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1 Introduction 

 

This report assesses the impact of the proposed development on the archaeology 

landscape at Daneswell Place, Botanic Road, Glasnavin, Dublin 9. The report has 

been compiled by John Purcell Archaeological Consultancy and includes a desktop 

study and archaeological testing. The desktop section of the report was compiled 

using: The Records of Monuments and Places; buildings of Ireland, Excavations 

Bulletin; historic maps; aerial photographs; place names and historic books and 

journals.  

 

The recorded and potential cultural heritage resource within the proposed 

development site and the surrounding its boundary were assessed in order to 

compile a complete cultural heritage context. 

 
Field walking was undertaken in 2020 and archaeological testing was undertaken in 

June 2022. John Purcell Archaeological Consultancy undertook this report.  

  

Figure 1: Location of development Botanic Road, Glasnevin, Dublin 7 

 

 

2 Proposed Development 

 

An amendment to permitted development DCC Reg Ref 3665/15 and the 

subsequent permission to provide 5 no. blocks of apartments and duplex apartments 

ranging in height up to 6 storeys. 35 no. permitted houses are currently 

completed/under construction on site. The proposed development will provide a total 



of 168 no. apartments, including studio, 1, 2 and 3 bed apartments along with a 

creche, café, and residential amenity space. All residential units are provided with 

associated private balconies/ terraces to the north/ south/ east/ west. Car and cycle 

parking will be provided at surface level and in the basement. Vehicular/ pedestrian/ 

cyclist accesses are from Botanic Road. All associated site development works, 

open spaces, roof gardens, landscaping, boundary treatments, plant areas, waste 

management areas, and services provision (including ESB substations) will be 

provided. 

3 Methodology 

This chapter has been prepared having regard to the following guidelines;  

¶ Guidelines for Planning Authorities and An Bord Pleanála on carrying out 

Environmental Impact Assessment (Department of Housing, Planning & Local 

Government, 2018) 

¶ Environmental Impact Assessment of Projects: Guidance on the preparation of 

the Environmental Impact Assessment Report (European Commission, 2017) 

¶ Guidelines on the Information to be Contained in Environmental Impact 

Assessment Reports ï Draft (EPA, 2017) 

¶ National Monuments Acts, 1930-2014  

¶ The Planning and Development (Strategic Infrastructure) Bill, 2006  

¶ Heritage Act 1995  

¶ Frameworks and Principles for the protection of Archaeological Heritage 1999  

¶  Architectural Heritage (National Inventory) and Historic Monuments and the 

Local Government (Planning and Development) Act 2000  

3.1 Study Methodology  

This assessment consists of a paper survey identifying all recorded sites within the 

vicinity of the proposed development and a site inspection.  The methodology has 

been conducted based on the guidelines from the Department of Culture, Heritage 

and the Gaeltacht (DAHG).  

The desktop survey undertaken consisted of a document and cartographic search 

utilising a number of sources including the following:  

¶ Record of Monuments and Places (RMP); The RMP records known 

upstanding archaeological monuments, the original location of destroyed 

monuments and the location of possible sites identified through, 

documentary, cartographic, photographic research and field inspections.   



¶ The RMP consists of a list, organised by county and subdivided by 6ò map 

sheets showing the location of each site. The RMP data is compiled from the 

files of the Archaeological Survey.  

¶ National Inventory of Architectural Heritage; The inventory of architectural 

heritage lists all post 1700 structures and buildings in the country. This 

includes structures of architectural, historical, archaeological, artistic, 

cultural, social, scientific or technical importance.  

¶ County Development Plans; The Development plan was consulted to 

ascertain if any structures listed in the Record of Protected Structures (RPS) 

and/or any Architectural Conservation Areas (ACAs). The Record of 

Protected Structures lists all protected structures and buildings in Dublin. 

This includes structures of architectural, historical, archaeological, artistic, 

cultural, social, scientific or technical importance.  

¶ Cartographic Sources; The following maps were examined: Down Survey, 

1st edition Ordnance Survey Maps (1836-1846) and 2nd edition Ordnance 

Survey Maps (1908), Rocque Map and the Cassini Map.   

¶ Literary Sources; Various published sources, including local and national 

journals, were consulted to establish a historical background for the 

proposed development site. Literary sources are a valuable means of 

completing the written record of an area and gaining insight into the history 

of the environs of the proposed development. Principal archaeological 

sources include: The Excavations Bulletin; Local Journals; Published 

archaeological and architectural inventories; Peter Harbison, (1975). Guide 

to the National Monuments of Ireland; and OôDonovanôs Ordnance Survey 

Letters.  

¶ Previous archaeological assessments and excavations for the area were 

reviewed.  

A comprehensive list of all literary sources consulted is given in the bibliography. 

  

3.2 Site Inspection  

An archaeological field inspection survey seeks to verify the location and extent of 

known archaeological features and to record the location and extent of any newly 

identified features. A field inspection should also identify any areas of archaeological 

potential with no above ground visibility. Many monument types do not leave surface 

markers. Wooden sites such as prehistoric house or burials may only be recorded 

through excavation works.  

 Site visits were undertaken in May 2019, June 2020 archaeological testing was 

undertaken in June 2022. 

 



3.3 Assessment Criteria  

The criteria used to assess the significance of the impact of a development on an 

archaeological landscape, site, feature, monument or complex are defined as follows:  

¶ Profound, Applies where mitigation would be unlikely to remove adverse 

effects. Reserved for adverse, negative effects only. These effects arise where 

an archaeological site is completely and irreversibly destroyed by a proposed 

development.   

¶ Significant, an impact which, by its magnitude, duration or intensity, alters an 

important aspect of the environment. An impact like this would be where part 

of a site would be permanently impacted upon, leading to a loss of character, 

integrity and data about the archaeological feature/site.   

¶ Moderate, A moderate direct impact arises where a change to the site is 

proposed which though noticeable, is not such that the archaeological integrity 

of the site is compromised, and which is reversible. This arises where an 

archaeological feature can be incorporated into a modern-day development 

without damage and that all procedures used to facilitate this are reversible.   

¶ Slight, An impact which causes changes in the character of the environment 

which are not significant or profound and do not directly impact or affect an 

archaeological feature or monument.   

¶ Imperceptible, An impact capable of measurement but without noticeable 

consequences.   

  

3.4 Difficulties Encountered 

No difficulties that could hinder the archaeological assessment were encountered, 

 

4 The Receiving Environment 

 

The site is located on Botanic Road, Glasnevin, Dublin 7. It is in the small townland 

of Prospect. It is located approximately 3km north of the city centre and to the north 

of Phibsboro Village. The site fronts onto Botanic Road and forms part of the former 

Smurfits Printworks site.  The permitted development of Daneswell Place forms the 

southern boundary of the site.  



The study area does not include any record archaeological monuments and no 

remains were identified during the site visit. The site is currently in use as access to 

an ongoing development at the east. 

 

 

Figure 2: Site boundary with archaeological monuments marked 

 

 

 

5 General Archaeological and Historical Summary 

5.1 Brief Archaeological Background 

Prehistory 

The Sites and Monuments Record (SMR) lists a number of prehistoric sites in this 

part of Co. Dublin. The earliest recorded archaeology in the area dates from the 

Neolithic (4,200-2,500BC). At this stage communities became more stable with the 

introduction of agricultural practices. The more permanent settlement allowed 

communities to construct large ceremonial sites. These megalithic monuments are 

located across the north of Co. Dublin.  

The bronze age marks the introduction of metal working to Ireland. This allowed for 

more efficient farming and hunting techniques. It also allowed for small industry and 



trade to take place between communities. Barrows are a common form of monument 

across in this area from this period. These are associated with the Bronze/Iron Age 

burial tradition (c. 2400 BC - AD 400) and are defined by an artificial mound of earth 

or earth and stone, normally constructed to contain or conceal burials. These sites 

vary in shape and scale and can be variously described as bowl-barrow, ditch 

barrow, embanked barrow, mound barrow, pond barrow, ring-barrow and stepped 

barrow. The incidence and frequency of these sites in the area attests to the extent 

of prehistoric settlement in this area from earliest times. Prehistoric settlements sites 

are generally not visible at ground level and can only be uncovered as a result of 

ground works. 

 

Iron Age to Early Medieval Period 

In late Bronze Age Ireland the use of the metal reached a high point with the 

production of high quality decorated weapons, ornament and instruments, often 

discovered from hoards or ritual deposits. The Iron Age however is known as a ódark 

ageô in Irish prehistory. Iron objects are found rarely, but there is no evidence for the 

warrior culture of the rest of Europe, although the distinctive La Tené style of art with 

animal motifs and spirals was adopted. Political life in the Iron Age seems to have 

been defined by continually warring petty kingdoms vying for power. These 

kingdoms, run on an extended clan system, had their economy rooted in mixed 

farming and, in particular, cattle. Settlement was typically centred on a focal hillfort. 

Settlement in the Early Medieval Period is defined by the ringfort. These are the 

commonest monument across the country and have been frequently recorded in the 

area. 

The introduction of Christianity to Ireland in the fifth century had a profound impact 

on Gaelic society, not in the least in terms of land ownership and the development of 

churches and religious houses. A number of early Christian Monuments are located 

in the vicinity of the site these include Holy Wells and Bullaun stones. 

 

Historic Period 

Following the Norman Conquest of the county a number of Motte and Baileys were 

constructed in the area. These consist of square, rectangular or occasionally circular 

area, sometimes raised above the ground, enclosed by a wide, often water-filled, 

fosse, sometimes with an outer bank and with a wide causewayed entrance. They 



date to the late 13th/early 14th centuries and were primarily fortified 

residences/farmsteads of Anglo-Norman settlers though they were also built by 

Gaelic lords. These represent the first Anglo Norman foray in the area. After the 

moated sites a series of Tower Houses were built across the county by the Normans 

descendants and local families. 

 

Post Medieval Ireland 

Seventeenth century Ireland saw massive upheaval a result of the Confederate 

wars, the Cromwellian response and the Wars of the two kings. The impact on the 

country was profound. It has been estimated that up to a third of the population was 

wiped out because of famine, disease and war. Soldiers were given land as payment 

resulting in further upheaval of the local population and the establishment of large 

estates. These came to dominate the landscape from this period onwards. Religious 

intolerance in other parts of Europe resulted in the expulsion of the Huguenot from 

France which were welcomed by the English Crown into Ireland.  

 

Glasnevin 

Glasnevin was reputedly founded by St. Mobhi in the sixth century as a monastery. 

St Colomba of Iona is thought to have studied under St. Mobhi. 

A settlement grew up around the monastery, which survived until the Viking 

invasions in the eighth century. By 822 Glasnevin, had become parts of the grange 

of Christ Church Cathedral. The 12th century saw the Normans arrived in Ireland 

and took control of much land in the area. Glasnevin ended up under the jurisdiction 

of Finglas Abbey and then later reverted to Christ Church control. In 1240 a church 

and tower was reconstructed on the site of the Church of St. Mobhi in the monastery. 

The returns of the church for 1326 stated that 28 tenants resided in Glasnevin. The 

church was enlarged in 1346, along with a small hall known as the Manor Hall. 

Glasnevin had developed as a small settlement in the 16th century. In 1667 it is 

recorded as containing 24 houses. The development of the village was given a boost 

when Sir John Rogerson built his country residence "Glasnevin House" - outside the 

village. The plantations of Ireland saw the settlement of Protestant English families in 

the area drawn by its proximity to Dublin City. A Protestant church was erected there 

in 1707 it contained earlier elements from a previous church.  

 



5.2 Archaeological Monuments 

The site of a well is located to the north of the site at the rear of housing off Fairfield 

Road in the townland of Daneswell (RMP DU 018 010). Formerly known as 'Dane's 

Well' this gave its name to the townland of Daneswell. It had the reputation of being 

a holy well with curative powers (Daly 1957, 21). It is marked as 'Deane's Well' on 

the OS 6-inch map (1908 ). Now covered.  

 

Located to the northeast of the site in the townland of Drishoge on the main walk 

through Griffith Park, c. 70m N of the footbridge across the Tolka (RMP DU 018 

011). This well was formerly within an enclosed yard of a house at Millbourne 

Avenue. It was a natural spring under the kitchen floor and led by a short culvert to 

the outside where it was accessible under a pointed arched superstructure. The 

water was used to cure sore eyes and toothache (Anon 1928, 159-161; Ó Danachair 

1958, 233). This house was demolished and the well is preserved in an ornamental 

shrubbery.  

 

A clustered of Monuments associated with St. Mobhi are located in Glasnevin to the 

north (RMP DU 108 005). This includes an ecclesiastical site, and enclosure and a 

burial ground.  

 

The number of archaeological monuments have been recorded to the north of the 

development. This would suggest that there might be other archaeological material 

in the area that has not yet been recorded. Houses constructed in prehistoric times 

and up to the 11th century AD were generally made of wood once this decayed the 

remains can only be detected through archaeological excavation. Similarly, burial 

sites may not have any surface markers and remain undetected below the surface. 

Ground disturbance may uncover buried archaeological sites, features or artefacts.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



Monument Type RMP Townland Distance to 
Study Area 

Well DU 018 010  Daneswell 221m 

Well DU 018 011 Drishoge 600m 
Ecclesiastical Site DU 18 005/01 Dublin City North 1km 
Ecclesiastical 
Enclosure 

DU 18 
005/008 

Dublin City North 970m 

Table 1 Archaeological features in the vicinity of the study area 

 

5.3 Site Survey 

The site does not include any visible archaeological remains and is at a remove from 

the recorded archaeological remains in the area. However the site is large in scale 

and sub surface remains of industrial archaeology may be preserved below the 

current ground surface. Works will involve deep excavation for basement car parks. 

Pre development geological testing uncovered a cobbled surface at 0.8-1m below 

the current ground level. Works at the site will expose this surface and possibly 

further remains.  

 

 

Plate 1: Aerial view of the site 



 

Plate 2: Looking east over the site 

 

Plate 3: Looking southwest  

 

 

5.4 Previous Archaeological Works 

A number of archaeological test excavations and monitoring has been undertaken in 

the vicinity of the development. These did not uncover any archaeological remains. 

 

 

 

 

 



Figure 3: Proposed layout 

 

 

5.5 Cartographic Evidence 

An examination of the cartographic evidence for the area of proposed development 

was undertaken. This involved the 17th century Down Survey, the Rocque Map, the 

first edition of the Ordnance Survey Map and its later editions (12.4-12.5), and the 

Cassini map for the area. No additional features indicative of archaeological remains 

were visible on the maps or the aerial photographs for the site.  

 

Figure 4: First edition OS map for the site 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Figure 5: Second edition OS map for the site 

 

 

5.6 Place name Evidence 

Townland names can give an indication of previous activities at the area that have 

since been forgotten and leave no trace at ground level. They can contain 

information on previous ownership, land use or archaeological monuments such as 

churches or settlement sites. Townland boundaries may reflect ancient territories, 

and some have associated archaeological features. The site is predominantly within 

the small townland of Prospect, the townland boundary forms the southern and 

eastern boundary of the site. Prospect refers to óan extensive view of the landscapeô, 

referring to the relatively elevated position of the area in relation to Dublin city to the 

south.  

 

5.7 Archaeological Testing 

Archaeological Testing was undertaken in June 2022. Since the previous site visit 

the site has been in use as a site compound and access road (Plate 4). This 

hindered access to some areas of the site.  

Test trench 1 

This was excavated at the north of the site and was orientated east to west.  This 

was excavated in two sections covering approximately 45m (Plate 5-7). The hard 

core layer was removed from the test trench, this modern layer was 0.25m on 

average. This overlay an orange brown subsoil layer that was exposed to a depth of 

0.6m in depth.  



 

Test trench 2 

This was excavated at the south of the site and was orientated east to west.  This 

was excavated in two sections covering approximately 40m. The hard core layer was 

removed from the test trench, this modern layer was 0.25m on average. This overlay 

an orange brown subsoil layer that was exposed to a depth of 0.6m in depth. A 

modern concrete wall was encountered at the southeast of the trench (Plate 8). No 

additional features were identified.  

 

 

Figure 6: Test trench locations 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Plate 4: Current layout of the site 
 

 
 
Plate 5: Test trench 1 during excavation, looking west 
 

 
 
Plate 6: Test trench 1, during excavation looking west 
 


